I. REGULATION & DISCIPLINE
A. Lawyer shall NOT counsel/advise client to engage in (OR assist client w/) crime/fraud [MR 1.2(d)]… unless as good faith attempt to invalidate law/rule [CRPC 3-210]
B. Lawyer as “amoral technician”/“zealous advocate”  representation of client does NOT constitute endorsement of client (promote client’s goals w/o moral evaluation) [MR 1.2(b)]
1. Lawyer shall abide by client’s decisions re: objectives of representation, consult w/ client as to means pursued (client should be sufficiently informed so as to participate intelligently) [MR 1.4]…
2. … BUT, lawyer may withdraw if client insists upon taking action which lawyer deems repugnant, OR w/ which lawyer fundamentally disagrees (rendered representation unreasonably difficult) [MR 1.16(b)]
a. When facing moral issue, could advise and leave decision up to client…
b. … OR, could advise while trying to dissuade client (may refer to relevant legal AND moral, economic, social, political factors [MR 2.1])…
c. … OR, could withdraw and NOT advise at all
C. Discipline of CA Lawyers
1. CA Sup. Ct. has ultimate authority for imposing discipline
a. CA State Bar Ct. makes recommendations…
b. … review panel(s)/Review Dept. may reconsider recommendation
2. When imposing discipline, burden of proof on bar… BUT, when seeking reinstatement, burden of proof on lawyer
3. Kinds of discipline…
a. Warning letter
b. Reproval (private OR public w/ published name/description)
c. Suspension/probation (Drociak  lawyer given 2 yrs. probation, 1 yr. suspension contingent upon violation, for having client sign blank verification forms in advance, attesting to truth of whatever lawyer fills in blanks)
d. Disbarment (Mountain  lawyer disbarred for defrauding family looking to adopt child by representing another family looking to adopt same child AND willing to pay more)
D. Admission of (CA) Lawyers
1. Admission requirements for CA State Bar [B&P 6060]…
a. 18+ yrs. old


b. Good moral character (fit to practice law)  from Kwasnik…
i. “Absence of proven conduct or acts which have been historically considered as manifestatons of ‘moral turpitude’” (need not be related to practice of law… BUT, rehab is considered, so past crime is NOT an automatic bar to admission)
ii. “Honesty, fairness, candor, trustworthiness, observance of laws of state and nation, and respect of rights of others and for the judicial process” (candor if required to answer questionnaire)
c. Educational requirement prior to law study (undergrad)
d. Register as law student
e. Educational requirements for law study
f. Pass Bar
2. Duty to disclose info re: applicant…
a. Neither applicant nor lawyer (regardless of where admitted) shall (whether demanded or not) make false statement of material fact (i.e. lacking personal knowledge) OR knowingly fail to disclose necessary fact re: application/disciplinary matter [MR 8.1]
b. In CA, lawyer shall NOT vouch for an applicant who is knowingly-unqualified (i.e. character, education) [CRPC 1-200(B)]… BUT, if NOT called upon as reference, then NO duty to disclose
i. CA lawyers must join CA State Bar…
ii. … but NOT required to join L.A. County Bar Assn. OR ABA
3. Requirements to appear in federal court…
a. For 9th Circuit, one must…
i. Be of good moral character (an independent review)
ii. Be member of a state bar
iii. File application, take oath, pay fee
iv. Have another member move for your admission
b. For District Ct(s)., generally similar to procedure for 9th Circuit (separate admission for each Ct.)
c. For Sup. Ct., one must have been admitted to practice for 3 yrs.
d. Disbarment from one court is NOT automatic disbarment from others (though MAY be grounds for)


E. Multi-jurisdictional Practice
1. Lawyer shall NOT practice in jurisdiction where doing so violates the regulation of legal profession in that jurisdiction [MR 5.5(a)/CRPC 1-300(B)]
a. If a CA lawyer practices in another state w/o admission to said state’s bar, lawyer is subject to discipline by CA Bar (immaterial where the conduct occurred) [CRPC 1-100(D)(1)]…
b. … AND, if other state follows Model Rules, subject to discipline by that state’s bar as well [MR 8.5(a)]
2. Situations where out-of-state lawyer may practice on temporary basis…
a. Associate w/ local counsel who will actively participate [MR 5.5(c)(1)]
b. Pro hac vice (“for this turn only”) admission (OR, in anticipation of) [MR 5.5(c)(2)/Cal. Rule of Court 9.47]
i. Can represent out-of-state w/ NO local counsel and NO pro hac vice in ADR proceeding [MR 5.5(c)(3)/Cal. Rule of Court 9.43]…
ii. … OR, if reasonably related to in-state practice (i.e. in-house counsel) [MR 5.5(c)(4)]
1. In CA, out-of-state lawyer may temporarily provide legal services in “transaction or other nonlitigation matter” (NOT including arbitration) [Cal. Rule of Court 9.48]…
2. … otherwise, no non-active member of CA Bar may practice law in CA [B&P 6125]
3. Firm may open an office in a jurisdiction where at least one lawyer is admitted, BUT must identify lawyers by jurisdictional limitation (i.e. “Admitted to practice in CA only”) [MR 7.5(b)]
F. Acting in Personal Capacity
1. Professional misconduct for lawyer to (knowingly) commit criminal act that reflects adversely on lawyer’s honesty/trustworthiness/fitness as lawyer [MR 8.4(b)]
a. Recall “moral turpitude”  personal morality (i.e. adultery), violence, dishonesty, breach of trust, serious interference w/ administration of justice
b. Whether in course of relations as lawyer or not, felony or misdemeanor or neither [MR 8.4 C.2/B&P 6106]
2. Lawyer who knows that another lawyer has committed such a violation shall inform appropriate professional authority [MR 8.3(a)]… unless doing so would be against duty of confidentiality and/or attorney-client privilege [MR 8.3(c)]



II. LAWYER-CLIENT RELATIONSHIP (“LCR”)
A. A lawyer-client relationship arises when…
1. … client manifests to lawyer intent that lawyer provide legal services for client, AND…
2. … lawyer manifests consent to do so, OR fails to manifest lack of consent when reasonably foreseeable for client to rely upon (whether or not lawyer knows that client relies)
a. Take care to NOT inadvertently create LCR  put in writing that you are NOT representing client (preliminary consultation ONLY), advise them to seek other representation (quickly, if SoL is close)
b. Even when NO LCR is created, still must exercise same reasonable care, AND not use/reveal information learned during consultation (confidentiality/conflicts of interest) [MR 1.18(b)]
B. Choosing Clients
1. Lawyers generally free as any other to decide w/ whom to deal (i.e. inconvenient, time-consuming, not regular client, repugnant)…
2. … BUT, representation should NOT be denied to those unable to afford legal services, OR whose cause is controversial
a. Again, representation is NOT endorsement/approval of client’s views/activities [MR 1.2(b)]
b. In CA, duty of lawyer to never reject “for any consideraton personal to himself… the cause of the defenseless or the oppressed” [B&P 6068(h)]… though, NOT “defenseless” when able to go to Public Defender’s Office
3. Lawyers’ freedom to select clients also qualified by responsibility to provide pro bono publico service  fulfilled by “accepting a fair share of unpopular matters or indigent or unpopular clients” [MR 6.2 C.1]
C. Accepting Appointments
1. Lawyer shall NOT seek to avoid court-appointment except “for good cause” [MR 6.2]  examples…
a. Representing client is likely to result in rule/law violation
b. Representing client is likely to result in unreasonable financial burden on lawyer (stemming from representation itself, NOT loss of other clients)
c. Client/cause is so repugnant to lawyer (NOT those close to lawyer) as to likely impair LCR or lawyer’s ability to represent
2. If court overrides a valid objection to appointment, lawyer is required to represent client [MR 1.16(c)/B&P 6103]


D. Lawyer Rejecting/Terminating Client
1. Mandatory for lawyer to withdraw (decline representation, OR terminate representation if already commenced) if [MR 1.16(a)/CRPC 3-700(B)]…
a. Continuing will result in violation of ethical rule
b. Physically/mentally unable
c. Unable to handle case diligently/competently
d. Conflict of interest
e. Legal position is frivolous, objective to harass someone
2. Permissive for lawyer to withdraw if [MR 1.16(b)/CRPC 3-700(C)]…
a. Client is NOT paying bill (OR other failure to abide by terms of agreement)… AND, client given reasonable warning (NOT in CA)
i. Lawyer cannot withdraw from failure to pay when lawyer has culpability (knows that client lacks available assets when taking on case)
ii. When it appears that client will be unable to pay, lawyer could…
1. Refuse to take on case in first place
2. Require retainer
3. Take on case pro bono
4. Withdraw early enough (i.e. NOT mid-trial)
5. Communicate better w/ client re: potential financial issues
b. Client will NOT be prejudiced (lawyer informs client, takes reasonable steps to protect client’s interests, time to find new lawyer, NO serious losses)
i. Lawyer must surrender papers/property/advanced fees to which client is entitled (regardless of fees owed, NO attorney retaining liens) [CRPC 3-700(D)] (MR refers to local law [MR 1.16(d)])…
ii. … BUT, may make copies for self, preserve records [MR 1.16(d)/CRPC 4-100(B)]
3. When required, lawyer must seek court permission to withdraw [MR 1.16(c)/ CRPC 3-700(A)(1)]… AND, when court orders, lawyer must continue representation (despite grounds for withdrawal)
4. Lawyer shall NOT take on claim unless there is basis in law and fact AND not frivolous [MR 3.1] (subject to FRCP 11 sanctions)
a. NOT frivolous b/c facts have not been fully substantiated/developed, OR unlikely to prevail, OR not warranted under existing law BUT good faith arguments for extension/modification/reversal of said law
b. YES frivolous if w/o probable cause AND for purpose of harassing/ maliciously injuring person [CRPC 3-200(A)] (“embarrass, delay or burden” [MR 4.4(a)])
E. Client Firing Lawyer
1. Judges are fond of saying, “A client has a right to discharge at any time, with or without cause”
a. Client needs to be able to have faith/trust in lawyer, thus client decisions about firing lawyer need to be respected…
b. … BUT, in Ruskin v. Rogers, court disallows client’s attempt to fire lawyer in midst of cross-examination b/c of disruption/delay of trial (avoid prejudice to other side, effect on judges’/lawyers’ calendars)
2. What becomes of lawyer’s fees if disputed?
a. If lawyer is paid hourly, fee is based on # of hrs. accrued
b. If lawyer is paid on contingency, fee is based on 1 of 3 theories…
i. Contract Rule – lawyer recovers full contract price
ii. Quantum Meruit – lawyer recovers reasonable value of services
iii. Modified Quantum Meruit – lawyer recovers reasonable value, BUT limited to no more than contract amount (no windfall for fired lawyer, no penalty for client who changes lawyers)
c. If contingency lawyer withdraws, may recover on quantum meruit ONLY when lawyer can show “justifiable cause” for withdrawal (i.e. compliance w/ ethical rules, NOT financial motivation)
d. Arbitration clause re: fee dispute is OK (even encouraged), so long as client is fully informed of scope/effect [MR 1.8 C.14]

III. COMPETENCE & DILIGENCE
A. Lawyer shall provide competent representation to client [MR 1.1]
1. “Competent representation”  the application of reasonably necessary (depending on subject matter) diligence, knowledge, skill, thoroughness, preparation, and mental/emotional/physical ability
2. Failure to act competently  intentionally, recklessly OR repeatedly failing to perform legal services w/ competence [CRPC 3-110(A)]
a. Lawyer (AND partner(s)) liable for malpractice if duty of care breached AND causation (but for lawyer’s breach, client would’ve filed claim AND won… NO damages if client wouldn’t have won)
b. In malpractice suit, client puts on the case (“case within a case”) that lawyer would’ve put on (if NOT for incompetence)… BUT, to seek redress from lawyer (NOT original defendant)
i. Lawyer shall NOT settle liability dispute w/ client w/o first advising of AND giving opportunity to seek independent legal counsel [MR 1.8(h)/CRPC 3-400(B)]
ii. In CA, lawyer shall NOT offer settlement of malpractice claim in exchange for client not reporting to state bar [CRPC 1-500(B)/B&P 6090.5]
B. Duty of Care For Legal Malpractice (owed to client)
1. Lawyer must use the care and skill ordinarily exercised by attorneys under similar circumstances
a. Lawyer need not turn down a case b/c of lack of special training in specific field…
b. … so long as lawyer either associates/consults w/ suitable expert (so long as client consents), OR acquires sufficient learning/skill in time [MR 1.1 C.2/CRPC 3-110(C)]
2. Lawyer must make informed decisions based on reasonable research
3. Lawyer won’t be second-guessed regarding tactical decisions based on well-informed research
C. Lawyer shall act w/ reasonable diligence and promptness [MR 1.3], keep client reasonably informed re: status of matter and comply w/ client’s reasonable requests [MR 1.4(a)], explain matters to client to extent reasonably necessary for client to make informed decision [MR 1.4(b)]
1. Client’s interests affected by lawyer procrastination/delay
a. Passage of SoL may destroy client’s legal position…
b. … AND, even when substantive interests not destroyed, client may suffer anxiety, lose confidence in lawyer
2. Lawyer must promptly inform client of settlement offers from opposing counsel, unless client has previously indicated acceptability of such offers, OR has authorized lawyer to accept/reject [MR 1.4 C.2]
3. Lawyer workload must be controlled such that matters can be handled competently [MR 1.3 C.2]
a. A subordinate lawyer is bound by ethical rules, but is NOT in violation rules when acting in accordance w/ orders from a supervisory lawyer (i.e. law firm partner) [MR 5.2]… rather, the supervisory lawyer is responsible [MR 5.1(c)(1)]
i. If subordinate lawyer has ethical reservations about supervisory lawyer’s orders, may report to appropriate regulatory agency AND not be fired (retaliatory discharge)…
ii. … BUT, in General Dynamics, in-house lawyer who reports employer IS fired b/c employer is also client (could claim retaliatory discharge, BUT attorney-client privilege remains in tact)
b. Supervisory lawyer is also responsible when having managerial/supervisory authority over subordinate lawyer AND knowing of subordinate lawyer’s conduct, BUT failing to take reasonable remedial action to avoid/mitigate consequences [MR 5.1(c)(2)]
c. Likewise, a lawyer is responsible for the actions of nonlawyers (i.e. secretary) [MR 5.3(b)] and paraprofessionals [MR 5.5 C.2]  nonlawyer giving legal advice amounts to “unauthorized practice of law”
i. Legal fees shall NOT be shared w/ nonlawyer [MR 5.4(a)/CRPC 1-320(A)]…
ii. … AND, nonlawyer may NOT form (legal) partnership w/ lawyer [MR 5.4(d)/CRPC 1-310] (some exceptions, i.e. legal aid)…
iii. … BUT, nonlawyer may be included in compensation/profit-sharing/retirement plan(s) (prevent nonlawyer from having stake in outcome)
4. Lawyer may limit scope of services by agreement w/ client, BUT must be reasonable under circumstances [MR 1.2 C.6-7]
a. Such a limitation would NOT be reasonable if time allotted was insufficient to yield advice on which client could rely
b. Reasonable limitation does NOT exempt lawyer from providing competent representation, but it is a factor in defining what IS “competent representation”

IV. FEES
A. General rule  all fees must NOT be unreasonable/illegal/unconscionable [MR 1.5(a)/CRPC 4-200(A)]
1. Non-exclusive factors to consider…
a. Time/labor required
b. Novelty of issues/skill required
c. Fixed vs. contingent
d. Time limitations
e. Money involved vs. results obtained
f. Experience/reputation/ability of lawyer
g. Undesirability of case
h. Casual vs. regular employment
i. Awards in similar cases
j. Customary fee (MR ONLY)
k. Informed consent of client (CA ONLY)
l. Amount of fee in proportion to value of services (CA ONLY)
m. Relative sophistication of parties (CA ONLY)
2. NO discipline for excessive fees… rather, fees will likely be lowered in court action (what is unearned is returned)
B. Basis/rate of fee/expenses preferably in writing [MR 1.5(b)]… BUT, in CA, must be in writing if total expenses exceed $1,000
1. In CA, written contract shall contain [B&P 6148(a)]…
a. Basis of compensation (i.e. hourly rates, statutory/flat fees)
b. General nature of legal services to be provided
c. Respective responsibilities of lawyer and client as to performance of contract
2. … unless [B&P 6148(d)]…
a. Client waiver
b. Pre-existing client/implied waiver
c. Emergency
d. Corporation
C. Contingent Fees (% of outcome)
1. Generally allowed [MR 1.5(c)]… but NOT in situations where greater concern is outcome/fairness (NOT attorney’s recovery)
a. Domestic relations (where divorce/support is pending) [MR 1.5(d)(1)]
b. Criminal defendants [MR 1.5(d)(2)]
2. Must be in writing AND include % deducted from recovery [MR 1.5(c)]…
a. … also, when such expenses are deducted, AND what will be deducted regardless of outcome (costs)
b. In CA, must also state that fee is negotiable b/w lawyer and client, NOT set by law [B&P 6147(a)]
3. Contingent fees allowed to be greater than what an hourly-fee lawyer would charge in the same matter
a. Contingent-fee lawyers assume risk of receiving nothing if client loses, SO only fair to be compensated for this risk (even if little time committed to representation)…
b. … BUT, large contingent fees may still be unconscionable, as to be determined based on facts/circumstances at the time agreement is entered into (unless contemplated to be affected by later events) [CRPC 4-200(B)]
D. Billable Hours
1. In addition to being (preferably) in writing, basis/rate of fees/expenses shall be communicated before OR within reasonable time after commencement of representation (unless client regularly represented on same basis/rate) [MR 1.5(b)]
a. OK for partner to adjust down (AND up) based on inexperience, difficulty of task, result achieved, amount at stake, etc.… BUT, client must be made aware
b. OK for inexperienced associate to log less hrs. if feeling that too much time was spent on a matter… BUT, partner must be made aware (partner better suited to make proper adjustment)
2. Ethical issues re: incentive to engage in fraudulent actions (to keep up w/ “target” billable hrs.)…
a. Lawyer shall NOT exploit a fee arrangement based primarily on hourly charges via wasteful procedures [MR 1.5 C.5]… rather, make reasonable efforts to expedite (consistent w/ client’s proper interests) [MR 3.2]
i. “Double-billing” (billing multiple clients simultaneously for same work) is NOT OK
ii. Rounding up is OK… BUT, to an extent
1. A 2-min. phone call counts as 0.1 hrs.…
2. … BUT, spending 10 hrs. at office does NOT equate to 10 billable hrs. (only about 2/3rd actual time is billable)
iii. “Think-and-worry time” is also problematic (OK if legitimately working at home… but, NOT OK if idea pops into head while doing something else)
b. Lawyer should aspire to 50 hrs./yr. of pro bono service [MR 6.1]
i. An “obligation” (NOT a “requirement”) in CA, difficult for some attorneys to fit in along w/ billable hrs. (esp. solo practitioners)…
ii. … BUT, some firms will count pro bono hrs. toward billable hrs.


E. Holding Client’s Property
1. Lawyer shall hold property of client(s)/3rd person(s) separate from lawyer’s own property [MR 1.15(a)]
a. In CA, funds received must be held in “Trust Account”/“Client’s Funds Account”, located within CA (unless client consents to other substantially-related jurisdiction) [CRPC 4-100(A)]…
b. … AND other properties must be ID’d and safely kept (i.e. safe deposit box) [CRPC 4-100(B)]
2. Upon receipt of client’s property, lawyer shall notify AND promptly return as client is entitled, w/ full accounting [MR 1.15(d)]
a. Lawyer may NOT hold funds as means of coercion (undisputed funds promptly distributed, disputed funds kept until settled) [MR 1.15(e) C.3]
b. Getting in touch w/ client doesn’t take long, so having a busy week is NO excuse

V. CONFIDENTIALITY
A. Attorney-client privilege is a rule of evidence, applies ONLY to fact-finding proceedings where there is power to compel the giving of evidence (i.e. court, discovery, deposition)
1. Applies to confidential communications (AND resulting observations) b/w attorney/agent and client (NOT 3rd persons)
a. In WA v. Olwell, client brings weapon used to commit crime to lawyer  observation of client w/ weapon IS protected by privilege, but knife itself is NOT protected
b. Defense has obligation to turn over evidence to prosecutor, cannot be depository for evidence OR suppress evidence by holding it [MR 3.4(a)/ CRPC 5-220]… BUT, prosecutor cannot reveal source of evidence
2. Exceptions…
a. … when services are sought/obtained to enable crime/fraud
b. … to prevent a criminal act
3. Some info may NOT be protected by privilege… BUT, revealing such info would breach duty of confidentiality…
B. Confidentiality is an ethical duty, applies everywhere AND to all information relating to representation of client
1. Unless client gives informed consent [MR 1.6(a)/CRPC 3-100(A)]…


2. … or, MAY reveal…
a. In CA, “to prevent a criminal act that the member reasonably believes is likely to result in death, or substantial bodily harm to, and individual” [CRPC 3-100(B)/CEC 956.5]
b. Under MR, “to prevent reasonably certain death or substantial bodily harm [OR] to prevent the client from committing a crime or fraud that is reasonably certain to result in substantial injury to the financial interests or property of another and in furtherance of which the client has used or is using the lawyer’s services [OR] to prevent, mitigate or rectify substantial injury to the financial interests or property of another that is reasonably certain to result or has resulted from the client’s commission of a crime or fraud in furtherance of which the client has used the lawyer’s services” [MR 1.6(b)(1)-(3)]
i. In CA (unlike under MR), NO crime-fraud exception, AND substantial bodily harm exception applies ONLY to criminal acts
ii. “Reasonably certain to occur”  either “will be suffered imminently” OR “present and substantial threat… at a later date if the lawyer fails to take action” [MR 1.6 C.6] (NOT past crimes)
3. Lawyer may also reveal to comply w/ court order [MR 1.6(b)(6)]…
a. … OR claim privilege, risk being held in contempt, file (emergency/24-hr.) writ, and be heard in Court of Appeal (where court order could be deemed erroneous)
b. In CA, privilege held by client as well [CEC 954]
4. Lawyer that breaches duty of confidentiality subjects self to…
a. Discipline under ethical rules
b. Possible civil liability (if client suffers damages from breach)
c. Possible loss of fees
5. Lawyer shall NOT use confidential info to disadvantage of client (regardless of whether it would constitute a breach or not) [MR 1.8(b)]
a. NO rule re: lawyer using confidential info to own advantage (but NOT to client’s disadvantage)… BUT, may bother client, affect relationship
b. Revealing confidential info w/o disclosing source (i.e. anonymously) is still breach of duty
C. Accidental Breach of Confidentiality
1. Lawyer must act competently to safeguard confidential info from inadvertent/unauthorized disclosure by lawyer AND others under lawyer’s supervision (i.e. subordinate lawyer, paralegal, secretary) [MR 1.6 C.16]
a. More leeway w/ transmission of confidential communications (i.e. email), required to take only reasonable precautions, NOT special security measures (i.e. computer getting hacked)…
b. … BUT, particularly sensitive info may increase degree of reasonableness [MR 1.6 C.17]
2. Recipient of accidentally-transmitted confidential info (who knows OR reasonably should know that info IS confidential, was inadvertently sent) shall promptly notify sender [MR 4.4(b)]
a. Steps to be taken after notification (i.e. returning of document(s), court order preventing recipient from using info) depend on local rules
b. ONLY applies to inadvertent transmission/receipt (NOT “whistle blowers”)
D. Fraudulent Claims and Confidentiality
1. Again, lawyer NOT required to disclose confidential info (NOT violating any rules by choosing not to)…
a. … BUT, should seek to persuade client to take suitable action to obviate the need for disclosure, AND shouldn’t disclose more than necessary [MR 1.6 C.14]
b. Factors for lawyer to consider [MR 1.6 C.15]…
i. Nature of lawyer’s relationship w/ client, others who might be injured by client
ii. Lawyer’s own involvement in the transaction
2. Continuing to represent fraudulent client…
a. Lawyer may withdraw if client has used lawyer’s services to commit past crime/fraud [MR 1.16(b)]
b. Lawyer must withdraw if continued representation will violate ethical rules (ongoing crime/fraud) [MR 1.16(a)]

VI. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: THIRD PARTIES
A. Lawyer shall NOT represent a client if involving a “concurrent conflict of interest” (potential OR actual) [MR 1.7(a)/CRPC 3-310(C)]
1. A concurrent conflict of interest exists if there is a significant risk that representation of one client will be materially limited by lawyer’s responsibilities to another/former client OR third person [MR 1.7(a)(2)]  examples…
a. When someone other than client is paying fee (third party payor, i.e. family member, insurance company, corporation defending officer/employee)
b. When representing an organization (confusion over who client is, dealing w/ officers who may have different interests than entity itself)
i. When lawyer represents a client w/ insurance, lawyers owes fiduciary duty to both insured AND insurer…
ii. … SO, if there is a conflict of interest, insurer must pay for independent counsel (cumis counsel) for ONLY the insured (insurance company now a third party payor)
2. … BUT, lawyer MAY represent a client, notwithstanding concurrent conflict of interest, if [MR 1.7(b)]…
a. Lawyer reasonably believes in ability to provide competent and diligent representation to each client…
b. … representation is NOT prohibited by law…
c. … representation does NOT involve one client making a claim against another client (in same OR different proceeding)…
d. … AND each client gives informed consent confirmed in writing (could be oral consent promptly recorded… as opposed to informed written consent [CRPC 3-310(A)])
i. Informed consent comes after lawyer has communicated adequate info/explanation re: material risks AND reasonably available alternatives [MR 1.0(e)]…
ii. … AND, client should be aware of foreseeable adverse effects on own interests [MR 1.7 C.18]
B. Accepting Fees from Third Party
1. Lawyer shall NOT accept compensation from a non-client, unless [MR 1.8(f)/ CRPC 3-310(F)]…
a. Client gives (in CA, written) informed consent…
b. … NO interference w/ lawyer’s independence of professional judgment, LCR…
c. … AND information is protected as per duty of confidentiality (in case third party payor wants to know)
2. Lawyer shall NOT permit a person who recommends/employs/pays lawyer to render legal services for another to direct/regulate lawyer’s professional services [MR 5.4(c)]
a. SO, even if client agrees to have legal services paid for by a non-client…


b. … lawyer must refuse if third party payor wants to direct/interfere w/ case (may have different agenda than client)
i. Some conflicts are nonconsentable, such that lawyer cannot properly ask for client’s informed consent [MR 1.7 C.14]
ii. If lawyer is unable to provide competent and diligent representation (b/c client’s interests will NOT be adequately protected), then NO consentability [MR 1.7 C.15]
C. Representing Organizations
1. Lawyer employed by an organization represents that “the organization acting through its duly authorized constituents” [MR 1.13(a)]
a. The client is the organization itself [CRPC 3-600(A)]
b. Lawyer may also represent director/officer/employee/etc., so long complying w/ rules re: concurrent conflicts of interest
2. When dealing w/ organization’s constituents whose interests are adverse to the organization, lawyer shall make clear the identity of the client  the organization [MR 1.13(f)/CRPC 3-600(D)]
a. Lawyer’s conversations w/ constituent(s) acting in organizational capacity are covered by duty of confidentiality [MR 1.13 C.2]…
b. … BUT, once lawyer discovers that constituent’s and organization’s interests are adverse, should advise said constituent to seek independent counsel, AND that current discussion may not be privileged [MR 1.13 C.10]
i. Whether such a warning should be given depends on the facts of the case…
ii. … BUT, always a good idea to do so, esp. w/ lower-level employee of organization (w/ whom NO prior LCR would exist, as opposed to president/CEO of organization)
3. Recall that lawyer MAY reveal confidential information under certain circumstances (i.e. preventing commission of crime, substantial injury to result [MR 1.6(b)])… BUT, only to the extent that client has used lawyer’s services
a. SO, if lawyer withdraws from representation of organization as to some crime/fraud (as lawyer should do), AND organization uses outside counsel, lawyer may NOT “blow whistle”…
b. … in fact, lawyer may need to, in addition to withdrawing, disaffirm any opinion/document/affirmation previously given [MR 1.2 C.10]
i. “Presenting an analysis of legal aspects of questionable conduct” will NOT make lawyer a party to an action…
ii. … BUT, “recommending the means by which a crime or fraud might be committed with impunity” IS actionable [MR 1.2 C.9]
4. In reporting actions of a constituent to a “higher authority” within the organization (who could act on behalf of organization if needed), lawyer shall do so “as is reasonably necessary in the best interest of the organization” [MR 1.13(b)]
a. Some situations may not warrant referral to higher authority…
b. … esp. if constituent can be urged to reconsider by being informed of likely consequences to organization [CRPC 3-600(B)]
c. If the higher authority then refuses to act upon referral, lawyer MAY reveal information if reasonably believed to prevent substantial injury to the organization [MR 1.13(c)]… BUT, in CA, may NOT reveal, ONLY withdraw [CRPC 3-600(C)]
5. In 2002 (following Enron scandal), Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“SOA”) passed, instructing SEC to regulate securities lawyers
a. “Attorney must report material violation of securities laws to higher authority within the corporation.” [17 CFR 205.3(b)(3)]
i. In comparison, reporting to higher authority is generally mandatory under MR, BUT lawyer has some discretion [MR 1.13]…
ii. … AND, in CA, reporting to higher authority is NOT mandatory (ONLY a “may”) [CRPC 3-600]
b. “Attorney may reveal confidential information to SEC to prevent material violation likely to substantially injure financial interests of company or investors.” [17 CFR 205.3(d)]
i. In comparison, may reveal ONLY if reasonably certain to substantially injure within organization (NOT outside organization)…
ii. … AND, in CA, may NOT reveal outside of company, ONLY withdraw
c. Attorneys who violate SOA are subject to civil penalty for violation of federal law, in addition to whatever state disciplinary actions may follow…
i. … but may NOT be disciplined by state where “good faith” compliance w/ SOA violates state law [17 CFR 205.6]
ii. CA has NOT reached this point yet… BUT, CA attorneys “cannot presume there is a safe harbor if they disclose client confidences to the SEC”

VII. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: LAWYER & CLIENT
A. Overlap b/w conflicts of interest issues w/ third party AND b/w lawyer/client
1. Again, lawyer shall NOT represent client if such representation would be limited by responsibilites to another client [MR 1.7(a)(2)]…
2. … unless lawyer reasonably believes in ability to represent both clients to the fullest extent, AND has each client’s informed consent [MR 1.7(b)]
B. Business Transactions b/w Lawyer and Client
1. Lawyer shall NOT enter into business transaction w/ client OR knowingly acquire interest adverse to client, unless [MR 1.8(a)/CRPC 4-300]…
a. Transaction and its terms are fair, reasonable AND fully disclosed in reasonably-understood writing
b. Client is advised of desirability AND given reasonable opportunity to seek independent legal counsel
c. Client consents in writing to terms… including whether lawyer is also representing client in transaction (NOT in CA)
i. Lawyer MAY acquire interest (i.e. lien) in subject matter of litigation as a fee arrangement (allow access to courts for indigent clients) [MR 1.8(i)]…
ii. … BUT, still a business transaction, SO must meet above requirements
2. Lawyer shall NOT purchase property for client, OR represent seller of property when buyer is family member OR co-worker of lawyer [CRPC 4-400]
3. Lawyer may ONLY provide litigation-related financial assistance to client (but NOT out of client trust account) if…
a. … advancing court costs/litigation expenses (which MAY be repaid as contingent on outcome) [MR 1.8(e)(1)/CRPC 4-210(A)(3)]…
b. … OR paying such costs/expenses of indigent client [MR 1.8(e)(2)]
i. In CA, lawyer MAY pay expenses to 3rd party out of funds collected from client [CRPC 4-210(A)(1)]…
ii. … and MAY lend $$ to client after employment has begun (w/ promise to repay in writing) [CRPC 4-210(A)(2)]
C. Lawyer as Witness
1. Problems w/ lawyer being witness in case where also representing client…
a. Conflict w/ duty of loyalty (if testimony is unfavorable to client)
b. Potential confusion to jury when lawyer plays dual role (b/c jury instructed that lawyer’s statements are NOT evidence)
c. Credibility
2. If testimony is unfavorable…
a. Recall that lawyer shall NOT represent client if significant risk that representation will be materially limited by other interests/responsibilities [MR 1.7(a)]… in such a situation, lawyer’s duty to testify truthfully would interfere w/ duty of loyalty
b. Recall that client can give informed consent to waive such a conflict [MR 1.7(b)]… but likely NOT consentable (difficult to represent same person against whom testifying)
c. If a lawyer cannot represent a client b/c of unfavorable testimony, nor may another in lawyer’s firm represent client [MR 1.10(a)]
3. If testimony is favorable…
a. Lawyer shall NOT act as advocate at trial when likely to be a necessary witness, unless [MR 3.7(a)/CRPC 5-210]…
i. Testimony relates to an uncontested issue
ii. Testimony relates to the nature/value of legal services rendered
iii. Disqualifying lawyer would substantially hardship client (requires balancing of client’s interests w/ opposing party’s AND tribunal’s interests) (MR ONLY)
iv. Client gives informed written consent (CA ONLY)
b. Tribunal can object when trier of fact may be confused/misled… whereas opposing party can object when dual role may prejudice its rights [MR 3.7 C.2]
c. If a lawyer cannot represent a client b/c of favorable testimony, another in lawyer firm may do so (NOT imputed) [MR 3.7(b)] (barring some other concurrent conflict of interest)
D. Lawyer as Executor of Will
1. Lawyer shall NOT solicit/induce substantial (testamentary) gift from client, OR prepare instrument memorializing such a gift [MR 1.8(c)/CRPC 4-400], unless…
a. … client is related to member…
b. … OR, subject to general standards of fairness, absence of undue influence [MR 1.8 C.6]
2. Lawyer MAY suggest self (OR associate) as executor of a will [MR 1.8 C.8]… BUT, still subject to concurrent conflict of interest


E. Lawyer’s Attraction to Client
1. Lawyer shall NOT have sexual relations w/ client unless such a relationship preceded commencement of lawyer-client relationship [MR 1.8(j)/CRPC 3-120(C)]
a. In CA, post-LCR sexual relations NOT OK if required/demanded as condition, coercion/intimidation/undue influence, OR continuing such sexual relations after they have caused lawyer to perform legal services incompetently [CRPC 3-120(B)]
b. Other lawyers within firm who are NOT representing client are NOT subject to same prohibition [MR 1.8(k)/CRPC 3-120(D)]
2. Lawyer’s relationship w/ opposing counsel
a. In MR, lawyer “ordinarily may not” represent client in matter when opposing counsel is related (parent, child, sibling, OR spouse)… unless informed consent from each client [MR 1.7 C.11]
b. In CA, lawyer shall NOT represent when opposing counsel is related, lives w/ lawyer, is client of lawyer, OR has intimate personal relationship w/ lawyer… unless client is informed in writing [CRPC 3-320]

VIII. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: BETWEEN CLIENTS
A. Conflicts w/ Former Clients
1. Lawyer who has formerly represented a client shall NOT represent another person in the same/substantially related matter in which person’s interests are materially adverse to former client [MR 1.9(a)]…
a. … unless informed consent from former client… OR, in CA, “informed written consent” [CRPC 3-310(E)]
b. When substantially related, assumed that lawyer has confidential info [MR 1.9 C.3]
c. Rosenfeld factors to determine if matters are substantially related…
i. Factual similarity
ii. Legal similarity
iii. Nature/extent of attorney’s involvement w/ case
d. Even when matters are wholly unrelated, lawyer may NOT represent someone directly adverse to current client [MR 1.7 C.6]
2. Lawyer (OR lawyer’s firm) who has formerly represented a client shall NOT reveal information relating to representation, OR use such info not generally known to disadvantage of former client (except as required by Rules) [MR 1.9(c)]
B. Conflicts w/ Prospective Clients
1. Lawyer (OR other in firm) shall NOT represent a client w/ interests materially adverse to a prospective client IF lawyer received potentially significantly harmful info from prospective client [MR 1.18(c)]…
2. … unless both affected AND prospective client give informed consent confirmed in writing [MR 1.18(d)(1)]…
3. … OR, lawyer took reasonable measure to avoid exposure to more disqualified info than necessary, is timely screened (from other lawyer in firm taking on representation), AND written notice is given to prospective client [MR 1.18(d)(2)]
C. Commonly-Represented Clients
1. When lawyer represents multiple clients in same matter, attorney-client privilege does NOT attach… SO, if litigation b/w clients arises, NO protection under privilege [MR 1.7 C.30]
2. Likewise, confidentiality does NOT attach… SO, b/c lawyer has equal loyalty to each client, each client has the right to be informed of anything affecting interests [MR 1.7 C.31]
a. Thus, lawyer must obtain each client’s informed consent, advise that all info will be shared
b. Lawyer cannot drop one client and represent remaining commonly-represented clients against (State Farm v. K.A.W.)
3. In criminal matters, representation of multiple criminal Ds presents grave potential for conflict of interest (i.e. plea deals to testify against one another, available witnesses favoring one over another) [MR 1.7 C.23]
D. Imputed Conflicts
1. When lawyer in a firm is prohibited from representing a client, then all other lawyers in firm are prohibited from knowingly doing so as well [MR 1.10(a)]
a. SO, if Lawyer moves to New Firm that represents client Bob, AND Lawyer represented adverse client Ann at Old Firm, then New Firm may NOT continue to represent Bob…
b. … b/c Lawyer (assumed to have) learned confidential info re: Ann at Old Firm, so could NOT represent Bob (unless Ann gives informed consent, which is unlikely)…
c. … thus, b/c Lawyer may NOT represent Bob, neither can anyone else at New Firm (assumed that lawyers share confidential info within firm)…


d. … though, Ann MAY give informed consent to New Firm w/ agreement to screen off Lawyer
i. Screening NOT enough to avoid imputed conflict…
ii. … BUT, screening may be a condition of informed consent…
iii. … AND, screening would be sufficient if Lawyer were a summer associate at Old Firm (OR a nonlawyer) [MR 1.10 C.4]
2. Lawyer shall NOT knowingly represent a client in the same/substantially related matter in which lawyer’s former firm represented a client whose interests are materially adverse AND about whom lawyer had acquired confidential info [MR 1.9(b)]
a. SO, if Lawyer never actually worked on Ann’s case at Old Firm, it will NOT be assumed that Lawyer has confidential info re: Ann…
b. … thus, New Firm MAY continue representing Bob, unless it is proven that Lawyer has confidential info re: Ann (in which case, assumed that Lawyer would share this info w/ New Firm)
3. When lawyer leaves firm, firm MAY represent a client w/ interests materially adverse to lawyer’s client, unless same/substantially related matter OR any lawyer remaining in firm has confidential info [MR 1.10(b)]
a. SO, Old Firm may represent someone that is adverse to Ann (who Lawyer represented while at Old Firm)…
b. … so long as NOT in the same/substantially related matter as what Lawyer worked on re: Ann at Old Firm, AND no one at Old Firm has confidential info re: Ann
E. Overview…
1. Effect on lawyer re: conflict w/ lawyer’s former client  substantial relationship test [MR 1.9(a)]
2. Effect on lawyer re: conflict w/ former firm’s client  substantial relationship test + did lawyer actually obtain confidential info [MR 1.9(b)]
3. Effect on lawyer’s new firm  conflict of lawyer imputed to new firm [MR 1.10(a)]
4. Effect on lawyer’s old firm  substantial relationship test + does any lawyer remaining in the firm have confidential info [MR 1.10(b)]
F. Judges and Arbitrators
1. Lawyer shall NOT represent anyone connected to matter where lawyer participated “personally and substantially” (NOT remote/incidental, effecting merits) as judge/law clerk/third-party neutral (unless informed consent confirmed in writing) [MR 1.12(a)]
2. If former-judge/lawyer IS disqualified, other lawyer in firm may continue representation so long as disqualified lawyer is timely screened AND written notice is given [MR 1.12(c)] (judges hear so many cases that if screening were NOT available, judges-turned-lawyers would be limited in where they could work)

IX. ADVERTISING & SOLICITING
A. Solicitation – direct in-person contact from attorney to prospective client re: lawyer’s availability for professional employment, w/ pecuniary gain as significant motive
1. On-the-spot nature of solicitation creates greater pressure (unequal bargaining power, opportunity for undue influence)…
2. … thus, lawyers may NOT solicit employment, unless [MR 7.3(a)/CRPC 1-400(C)]…
a. Family
b. Prior professional relationship
c. Close personal relationship (MR ONLY)
d. Fellow lawyer (MR ONLY)
e. Protected by CA Const. (CA ONLY)
3. Otherwise, OK to meet people (i.e. seminars), become friends (i.e. social clubs), such that if they pursue legal problems, they may come to you for representation
B. Lawyer shall NOT give anything of value in exchange for recommendations, except [MR 7.2(b)]…
1. Reciprocal referral agreements  lawyer may make agreement w/ another lawyer to refer clients to each other, so long as NOT exclusive, AND client is informed of such agreement [MR 7.2(b)(4)]
a. Such agreements must NOT interfere w/ lawyer’s professional judgment re: making referrals, providing substantive legal services (NO forwarding fee… BUT, in-firm “new business” referral bonus is OK) [MR 7.2 C.8]
b. Reciprocal referral agreements NOT permitted in CA [CRPC 2-200(B)]
2. Qualified lawyer referral service  lawyer may pay usual charges/fees to participate in a lawyer referral service approved by appropriate regulatory authority [MR 7.2(b)(2)/CRPC 1-320(A)(4)]
a. Lawyer may put name on list of court-appointed attorneys…
b. … BUT, may not make/solicit political contributions to get such appointments [MR 7.6]
C. Advertising – communication re: lawyer’s services, usually to public at large
1. Commercial speech may be reasonably regulated (time/place/manner) as per 1st Amendment… thus, NO general ban on lawyer advertising (Bates)
2. Lawyer MAY advertise through written, recorded or electronic communication [MR 7.2(a)]… but shall NOT make a false/misleading communication [MR 7.1]
a. False/misleading if containing a material misrepresentation, OR omitting a fact needed to make statement NOT materially misleading
b. MAY be misleading if reasonable person would form an unjustified expectation of result (w/o reference to specific factual/legal circumstances, i.e. www.winbig.com), OR if lawyer makes unsubstantiated comparison (to other lawyer(s)) w/ such specificity that reasonable person would take comparison as substantiated [MR 7.1 C.3]
D. CA Restrictions on Advertising/Solicitation
1. A communication shall not [CRPC 1-400(D)]…
a. Contain an untrue statement
b. Contain any matter that is false, deceptive, or tends to confuse/deceive/ mislead
c. Omit any fact necessary to make statement NOT misleading
d. Fail to indicate that it IS such a communication
e. Involve intrusion, coercion, duress
f. Falsely state that lawyer is a “certified specialist” (must hold current certificate issued by Board of Legal Specialization)
2. Communications which are presumed to be in violation [CRPC 1-400(E)]…
a. Contains guarantees, warranties OR predictions regarding the result of a representation [Std. 1]
i. NO guarantee/warranty re: outcome [B&P 6157.2(a)]
ii. NO statement that lawyer can obtain immediate cash/quick settlement [B&P 6157.2(b)]
b. Contains testimonials/endorsements of lawyer, unless also containing disclaimer (“This testimonial… does not constitute a guarantee… regarding the outcome of your legal matter”) [Std. 2]
i. Rebuttable presumption that message re: ultimate result of a specified case presented out of context w/o specifics is deceptive [B&P 6158.1(a)]


ii. Advertising by electronic media portraying result in particular case must disclose factual/legal circumstances, OR state that result depends on facts/may differ for different facts [B&P 6158.3] (though, may NOT rebut above presumption)
c. Delivered to potential client whom lawyer knows/should know is in such a physical/emotional/mental state that unable to exercise reasonable judgment re: retention of counsel [Std. 3]
d. Transmitted at scene of accident, at/en route to health care facility [Std. 4]
e. If transmitted in envelope, must bear “Advertisement”/“Newsletter”/etc. [Std. 5]
f. Contains dramatization, unless also containing disclaimer (“This is a dramatization”) [Std. 13]
i. NO spokesperson, dramatization/impersonation of lawyer/client w/o disclosing [B&P 6157.2(c)]
ii. Presumption of violation when depicting injuries, accident scene, injurious events [B&P 6158.1(b)]
g. States/implies no fee w/o recovery, unless also disclosing whether client is liable for costs [Std. 14]
i. Representation re: contingent fee must advise whether client is responsible for costs when NO recovery is obtained…
ii. … unless client is NOT responsible for costs [B&P 6157.2(d)]
E. Describing Practice
1. Lawyer may communicate practicing (or NOT practicing) in particular field of law [MR 7.4(a)]…
2. … so long as such statement (i.e. “specialist”/“specialty”/“specializes in”) is NOT false/misleading [MR 7.4 C.1]
a. Lawyer shall NOT state/imply self as being “certified specialist” unless certified by organization approved by ABA or state authority, AND name of certifying organization is clearly ID’d (i.e. “Certified by The Rutter Group”) [MR 7.4(b)]…
b. … similar to CA rule [CRPC 1-400(D)(6)], except that ABA-approval is NOT enough/necessary
F. Newspaper/Telephone/Internet
1. Lawyer shall NOT solicit by written/recorded/electronic communication OR in-person/telephone/real-time electronic contact, even if NOT for pecuniary gain, if [MR 7.3(b)] (broader than general ban on solicitation [MR 7.3(a)])…
a. … prospective client has asked NOT to be solicited…
b. … OR, solicitation involves coercion, duress, harassment
i. Also, written/recorded/electronic communications aimed at those in need of legal services shall include “Advertising Material” (outside of envelope OR at beginning and ending of record) [MR 7.3(c)]
ii. Similar to CA rules [CRPC 1-400(D)(4)/CRPC 1-400(E) Std. 5]
2. Differences b/w general bans on solicitation under MR (“in-person, live telephone or real-time electronic contact”) and CA (“delivered in person or by telephone”)…
a. Recorded telephone ads  NOT “live” telephone, so NOT subject to MR general ban on solicitation (autodialing removes pressure)… BUT, “by telephone”, so subject to CA general ban
b. Chat rooms  “real-time”, so subject to MR general ban… BUT, not “in person”, so NOT subject to CA general ban
c. Emails  neither “real-time” nor “in person”, so NOT subject to either general ban
d. Telephone workers  subject to both general bans (both in person, even though NOT the lawyer himself)
e. Leaflets  borderline b/w “in person” AND “written communication” (perhaps OK if person handing out doesn’t speak)

X. CANDOR
A. Candor toward…
1. … 3rd parties  lawyer shall NOT knowingly make false statement of material fact/law, OR fail to disclose material fact when necessary to avoid assisting client in crime/fraud (unless prohibited by duty of confidentiality) [MR 4.1]
a. A statement of material fact is one which is verifiable…
b. … whereas certain statements (i.e. price/value estimates) are generally accepted in negotiation (“puffing”) [MR 4.1 C.2]
2. … the tribunal  lawyer shall NOT knowingly make false statement of material fact/law, OR fail to correct such a statement previously made to tribunal [MR 3.3(a)(1)]
a. If lawyer knows of someone engaging in crime/fraud, shall make reasonable remedial measures, including disclosure to tribunal [MR 3.3(b)]…
b. … even if doing so violates duty of confidentiality [MR 3.3(c)]
3. In CA, duty of candor does NOT take preference over duty of confidentiality [B&P 6068(d)/CRPC 5-200(B)]
B. Informing of Evidence
1. Lawyer shall NOT suppress/unlawfully obstruct access to/alter/destroy/conceal evidence [MR 3.4(a)/CRPC 5-220]
a. Each side expected to present conflicting positions, marshal evidence competitively…
b. … but NO duty to inform opposing party of relevant facts [MR 4.1 C.1]
2. Lawyer shall NOT fail to disclose to the tribunal legal authority in the controlling jurisdiction known by lawyer to be directly adverse to own position (legal argument as “discussion”) [MR 3.3(a)(2)]
a. “Controlling jurisdiction” depends on which law is controlling (i.e. AZ decision NOT controlling in NY), “directly adverse” depends on subject matter (i.e. legal malpractice opinion NOT directly adverse to veterinary malpractice case)
b. Failure to disclose MAY be equivalent to an affirmative misrepresentation [MR 3.3 C.3]
c. In CA, lawyer shall NOT intentionally misquote to tribunal OR cite overruled/repealed authority [CRPC 5-200(C)-(D)]
3. In ex parte context (i.e. TRO), NO balance of presentation (object is to “yield a substantially just result”)
a. Evidence is NOT marshaled competitively (less opportunity for opponent to be heard)…
b. … SO, lawyer shall inform tribunal of all known material facts, adverse or not [MR 3.3(d)]
4. During discovery, NO frivolous requests… AND, must make reasonably diligent effort to comply w/ legally proper requests (though, discovery requests are interpreted narrowly) [MR 3.4(d)]
C. Offering False Evidence
1. Lawyer shall NOT offer evidence w/ actual knowledge that it is false [MR 3.3(a)(3)]
a. Lawyer MAY refuse to offer evidence that he reasonably believes to be false (reasonable belief does NOT preclude, may NOT avoid through intentional ignorance)…
b. … unless such evidence is criminal D’s testimony (constitutionally-protected right)
c. If lawyer knows that criminal D intends to testify falsely, must seek to persuade client otherwise (i.e. inform of consequences of perjury, cross-examination) [MR 3.3 C.6]… AND, if criminal D still persists…
i. Under MR, withdraw representation… AND, if court refuses (based on prejudice, potential for client to repeat cycle w/ next lawyer), then lawyer must NOT elicit/permit false portion to be admitted
ii. Under CA, narrative approach  allow criminal D to testify in narrative fashion w/o questioning (NOT eliciting/participating in fraud/perjury), and don’t argue facts to jury in closing argument… consistent w/ truth AND not misleading [CRPC 5-200(A)-(B)]
2. If lawyer subsequently comes to know that evidence is false, must take “reasonable remedial measures” [MR 3.3(a)(3)]…
a. … which could be to remonstrate w/ client confidentially, advise of duty of candor to tribunal, seek client’s cooperation…
b. … AND, if this fails, disclose to tribunal as is reasonably necessary, even if violating duty of confidentiality [MR 3.3 C.10]
i. Recall that, in CA, duty of candor does NOT take preference over duty of confidentiality…
ii. … SO, could ONLY disclose as necessary to prevent criminal act reasonably believed to result in substantial bodily harm/death [B&P 6068(e)]
c. Can disclose to tribunal up until proceeding has concluded, which is when final judgment has been affirmed on appeal OR time for review has passed [MR 3.3 C.13]

XI. FAIRNESS
A. Communication w/ Jurors/Judge
1. Lawyer shall NOT seek to influence a judge/(prospective) juror/official OR communicate w/ such ex parte during proceeding [MR 3.5(a)-(b)]
a. “Communication” may be direct OR indirect (i.e. via person under lawyer’s supervision) [CRPC 5-320(A)-(B)], AND “juror” may be empaneled/discharged/excused [MR 3.5(c)/CRPC 5-320(I)]
i. In CA, lawyer may NOT knowingly communicate w/ juror regardless of whether connected to case or not [CRPC 5-320(C)]…
ii. … AND, lawyer shall promptly reveal any improper communication to court [CRPC 5-320(G)]
iii. NO “small talk” exceptions… thus, if juror initiates conversation unrelated to case, either nicely tell juror you cannot speak, OR ask court to give jury instruction
b. In CA, lawyer shall NOT communicate w/ judge, except [CRPC 5-300(B)]…
i. In open court
ii. With all counsels’ consent
iii. In presence of all counsel
iv. In writing w/ copy furnished to all counsel
v. In ex parte matters
2. Ways to gather info re: jurors…
a. Jury questionnaires (if not, then voir dire)
b. Commercial jury services (general demographics)
c. NO investigations [MR 3.5(a)/CRPC 5-320(E)-(F)]
3. After discharge of jury, lawyer shall NOT communicate w/ juror…
a. … as prohibited by law/court order [MR 3.5(c)(1)]
b. … if juror has made known desire to NOT be communicated w/ [MR 3.5(c)(2)]
c. … if intending to misrepresent/coerce/harass/embarrass [MR 3.5(c)(3)/CRPC 5-320(D)]
B. Communication w/ Represented/Unrepresented Persons
1. Lawyer shall NOT communicate re: subject of representation to a person known to be represented by another lawyer (unless consent/authorized) [MR 4.2/CRPC 2-100(A)]
a. If organization is represented by another lawyer, lawyer shall NOT communicate w/ employee of organization whose authority may be imputed to organization re: civil/criminal liability (i.e. officer, director, bookkeeper) [MR 4.2 C.7/CRPC 2-100(B)]… OR, w/ employee who works w/ organization’s lawyer (NOT in CA)
b. Former employees MAY be communicated w/ by lawyer and/or client (non-employees assumed reliable)… BUT, current employees may be communicated w/ ONLY by client (party-to-party communication OK) [MR 4.2 C.4]
2. If potential adversary is NOT represented, lawyer shall NOT state/imply being disinterested, BUT should correct any such misunderstanding, NOT give legal advice [MR 4.3]
C. Communication w/ Potential Witnesses
1. Lawyer shall NOT pay witness contingent upon content of testimony OR outcome of case, but MAY pay for [CRPC 5-310(B)]…
a. Expenses reasonably incurred in attending/testifying
b. Reasonable compensation for loss of time
c. Reasonable fee for professional services of expert witness
2. Common law rules  NO fee for occurrence witness, NO contingent fee for expert witness [MR 3.4 C.3]
D. Communication w/ Press
1. Lawyer shall NOT make an extrajudicial statement that lawyer knows/should know will be disseminated by means of public communication AND have substantial likelihood of materially prejudicing an adjudicative proceeding [MR 3.6(a)/CRPC 5-120(A)]
a. Certain subjects more likely to have such prejudicial effect, esp. in civil trial w/ jury, criminal matter, incarceration…
b. … relate to character/credibility/reputation/criminal record of party/suspect/ witness, identity of witness, expected testimony [MR 3.6 C.5]
2. Lawyer shall NOT make book/movie deal until conclusion of representation of client [MR 1.8(d)] (unless representation concerns such a transaction, in which case lawyer’s fee may consist of share)
E. Disrespectful Communication
1. Lawyer shall NOT engage in conduct intended to disrupt tribunal [MR 3.5(d)]
2. … allude to matter NOT reasonably believed to be relevant or supported by admissible evidence, assert personal knowledge of facts (unless testifying), state personal opinion re: cause/credibility/culpability [MR 3.4(e)]
3. … use means that have NO substantial purpose other than to embarrass/delay/ burden OR violate person’s legal rights [MR 4.4(a)]
4. In CA, encompassed as duty of attorney “to maintain the respect due to the courts” [B&P 6068(b)]


	
	Under MR…
	In CA…

	Advising client to engage in fraudulent/criminal conduct…
	NO [MR 1.2(d)]
	NO, unless good faith belief in law being invalid [CRPC 3-210]

	Disclosing info re: Bar applicant…
	Must disclose [MR 8.1]
	NO duty to disclose if not called upon as reference [CRPC 1-200(B)]

	CA lawyer practicing out of state w/o admission in state…
	If other state follows MR, subject to discipline there [MR 8.5(a)]
	Subject to discipline in CA [CRPC 1-100(D)(1)]

	Temporarily representing client out of state w/ local associate who actively participates…
	OK [MR 5.5(c)(1)]
	NO such counterpart in CA

	Non-CA lawyer, temporarily in CA, providing legal services in “transaction or other nonlitigation matter” (NOT including arbitration)…
	N/A (b/c in CA)
	OK [Cal. Rule of Court 9.48]

	Representation of the “defenseless” or “oppressed”…
	Should not be denied [MR 1.2 C.5]… responsibility for pro bono [MR 6.1]… BUT, may reject those whose cause is repugnant [MR 6.2 C.1]
	Duty of lawyer never to reject [B&P 6068(h)]

	Withdraw from representation b/c client isn’t paying bill (OR breaching some other contractual obligation)…
	May request withdrawal ONLY if client has been given reasonable warning [MR 1.16(b)(5)]
	May request withdrawal [CRPC 3-700(C)(1)(f)]

	Settling legal malpractice claim in exchange for client NOT reporting to state bar…
	NO such counterpart in MR
	NO [CRPC 1-500(B)/B&P 6090.5]

	General rule re: all fees…
	Must not be “unreasonable” [MR 1.5(a)]
	Must not be “illegal or unconscionable” [CRPC 4-200(A)]

	Factors considered re: fees (NOT including factors shared by MR and CA, i.e. time/labor required, novelty of issues, etc.)…
	Customary fee [MR 1.5(a)]
	Informed consent of client, amount of fee in proportion to value of services, relative sophistication of parties [CRPC 4-200(A)]

	Fee arrangement in writing…
	Preferably, w/ basis communicated before OR reasonably after commencement of representation [MR 1.5(b)]
	Must be if over $1,000, include basis, nature, responsibilities [B&P 6148(a)]… unless client waiver, pre-existing client/ implied waiver, emergency, corporation [B&P 6148(d)]

	NO contingency fee allowed in…
	Domestic relations matters (where divorce/alimony/ child support is pending), criminal Ds [MR 1.5(d)]
	NO such counterpart in CA, BUT still generally followed (domestic relations covered in Family Code)

	Statement in contingency fee agreement that fee is negotiable b/w lawyer and client…
	NO such counterpart in MR
	Required, unless fee is NOT negotiable (i.e. medical malpractice) [B&P 6147(a)(4)]

	Pro bono service…
	Lawyer should aspire to render 50 hrs./yr. [MR 6.1]
	An obligation (NOT a requirement, though some firms may require)

	Revealing confidential information…
	If client gives informed consent [MR 1.6(a)]… OR, to prevent reasonably certain death or substantial bodily harm, crime/fraud reasonably certain to substantially injure another’s financial/property interests for which client has used lawyer’s services, OR such injury from client’s commission of crime/fraud [MR 1.6(b)]
	If client gives informed consent [CRPC 3-100(A)]… OR, to prevent criminal act reasonably believed to likely result in death or substantial bodily harm [CRPC 3-100(B)] (NO crime/fraud exception, AND substantial bodily harm exception applies ONLY to criminal acts)

	Privilege from disclosing confidential communications b/w lawyer and client…
	Lawyer ONLY [MR 1.6(b)(6)]
	Lawyer AND client [CEC 954]

	Lawyer representing client despite concurrent conflict of interest…
	Reasonably believes in ability to do so, NOT illegal, NOT involving clients making claims each other, AND clients’ “informed consent confirmed in writing” [MR 1.7(b)]
	Same as in MR, except clients’ “informed written consent” [CRPC 3-310(A)]

	Lawyer accepting client’s fees from 3rd party…
	NO interference w/ lawyer’s professional judgment and relationship w/ client, information protected by confidentiality, AND client’s “informed consent” [MR 1.8(b)]
	Same as in MR, except client’s “informed written consent” [CRPC 3-310(F)]

	If lawyer representing organization discovers constituent’s illegal actions…
	Lawyer must refer to higher authority, unless not necessary under circumstances (i.e. NOT in best interest of organization) [MR 1.13(b)]
	Lawyer MAY refer to higher authority (may also urge reconsideration, OR  may do nothing) [CRPC 3-600(B)]

	If lawyer representing organization informs higher authority about constituent’s actions, and authority does NOT take action…
	Lawyer may reveal confidential information if reasonably believed to prevent substantial injury to organization [MR 1.13(c)]
	Lawyer must withdraw (may NOT reveal) [CRPC 3-600(C)]

	Lawyer purchasing property for client, OR representing seller when buyer is related to lawyer/co-worker…
	NO such counterpart in MR (likely would be OK if meeting requirements for business transaction b/w lawyer and client [MR 1.8(a)])
	NO [CRPC 4-400] (other business transactions b/w lawyer and client must meet same requirements as MR [CRPC 4-300])

	Lawyer paying court costs/expenses of client…
	OK as advance (MAY agree to be repaid contingent on outcome), OR if client is indigent [MR 1.8(e)]
	OK as advance (MAY agree to be repaid contingent on outcome)… also, may loan $$ after employment w/ promise to repay in writing [CRPC 4-210]

	Lawyer acting as advocate and witness…
	NO, unless testimony re: uncontested issue or nature/ value of legal services, OR disqualifying lawyer would substantially hardship client [MR 3.7(a)]
	NO, unless testimony re: uncontested issue or nature/ value of legal services, OR client gives informed written consent [CRPC 5-210]

	Lawyer having sexual relations w/ client…
	NO, unless sexual relationship precedes lawyer-client relationship [MR 1.8(j)]
	NOT OK if required/ demanded, coerced/ intimidated, OR continued after causing incompetence [CRPC 3-120]

	Opposing counsel related to lawyer…
	NO, unless client gives informed consent [MR 1.7 C.11]
	NO, unless client is informed in writing [CRPC 3-320] (also includes living w/, being client of, AND having intimate personal relationship w/)

	Lawyer representing client in same/substantially related matter as former client w/ materially adverse interests…
	NO, unless former client gives “informed consent” [MR 1.9(a)]
	NO, unless former client gives “informed written consent” [CRPC 3-310(E)]

	Who lawyer may solicit…
	Another lawyer OR family, close personal, or prior professional relationship [MR 7.3(a)]
	Family or prior professional relationship [CRPC 1-400(C)]

	Prohibited as solicitation if significant motive is pecuniary gain, AND…
	“in-person, live telephone or real-time electronic contact” [MR 7.3(a)]
	“delivered in person or by telephone” [CRPC 1-400(B)]

	Reciprocal referral agreements…
	OK, so long as NOT exclusive, AND client informed of agreement [MR 7.2(b)(4)]
	NOT permitted [CRPC 2-200(B)]

	Statement in advertisement/ solicitation re: lawyer being “certified specialist”…
	Must be certified by organization approved by ABA or state authority, AND name of certifying organization must be ID’d [MR 7.4(b)]
	Must be certified by Board of Legal Specialization [CRPC 1-400(D)(6)]

	Duty of candor toward tribunal taking preference over duty of confidentiality…
	YES [MR 3.3(c)]
	NO [B&P 6068(d)/CRPC 5-200(B)]

	Communication w/ juror by lawyer unrelated to case…
	NO such counterpart in MR
	NO [CRPC 5-320(C)] (distinction b/w lawyers “connected” and “not connected” w/ case)





CONFLICTS BETWEEN CLIENTS

	If…
	Then…

	Lawyer formerly represented A
	Lawyer shall NOT represent B in same/substantially-related matter in which B’s interests are materially adverse to A (i.e. A v. B)… unless, informed consent confirmed in writing from A [MR 1.9(a)] (assumed that Lawyer has confidential info re: A)

	Lawyer formerly worked at Firm, Firm represented A (but Lawyer never worked on A’s case)
	Lawyer shall NOT represent B in same/substantially-related matter in which B’s interests are materially adverse to A, AND Lawyer actually acquired confidential info re: A [MR 1.9(b)]

	Lawyer is prohibited from representing A
	All others in Firm are prohibited from knowingly representing A (Lawyer’s conflict is imputed to Firm) [MR 1.10(a)]… thus, if Lawyer used to represent B, then takes job at Firm that represents A, then A v. B, Firm is prohibited from representing A b/c Lawyer is prohibited from representing A (again, unless informed consent confirmed in writing from B)… screening is NOT sufficient (would be for non-lawyer)

	Lawyer represented A while working at Firm (Lawyer left Firm, kept A as client)
	Firm may represent B, whose interests are materially adverse to A… unless in same/substantially-related matter, AND others in Firm have confidential info re: A [MR 1.10(b)]

	Lawyer currently represents A, B is a prospective client w/ interests materially adverse to A
	Lawyer shall NOT represent A IF Lawyer received potentially significant harmful info from B… unless, informed consent confirmed in writing from A AND B… OR, Lawyer took reasonable measure to avoid exposure to more such info than necessary, is timely screened (if another within Firm takes on representation), AND written notice given to B [MR 1.18(c)-(d)]

	Lawyer represents A and B (commonly-represented clients) in same matter
	Neither attorney-client privilege nor confidentiality attach… Lawyer has equal loyalty to A and B, SO both A and B have right to be informed of anything affecting interests (if litigation arises b/w A and B, nothing is protected)

	Lawyer previously served as judge/law clerk/third-party neutral
	Lawyer shall NOT represent anyone connected to matter in which Lawyer (as judge/etc.) participated personally and substantially… unless, informed consent confirmed in writing from all parties [MR 1.12(a)]… BUT, others in Firm may represent IF Lawyer is timely screened AND written notice given to all parties [MR 1.12(c)]





ADVERTISING/SOLICITATION

	Type of communication…
	OK under MR?
	OK in CA?

	Solicitation (direct contact b/w lawyer and prospective client re: lawyer’s availability w/ $$ as significant motive)
	NOT OK, unless family, prior professional relationship, close personal relationship, OR fellow lawyer (applies to “in person, live telephone or real-time electronic contact”) [MR 7.3(a)]… also, NOT OK if prospective client has asked not to be solicited, OR solicitation involves coercion, duress, harassment (also applies to “written, recorded, electronic communication”) [MR 7.3(b)]
	NOT OK, unless family, prior professional relationship, OR protected by CA Const. (applies to “delivered in person or by telephone”) [CRPC 1-400(C)]

	Advertising (communication re: lawyer’s services, usually to public at large)
	NO false/misleading communication (misrepresentation OR omission) [MR 7.1]
	NO untrue statement, false/ deceptive matter, omission to make misleading, failure to indicate communication, intrusion/coercion/duress [CRPC 1-400(D)(1)-(5)] (also applies to solicitation)

	Lawyer as “certified specialist”
	OK, so long as certified by ABA-/state-approved organization, name of which is clearly identified [MR 7.4(d)]
	OK, so long as certified by Board of Legal Specialization [CRPC 1-400(D)(6)]

	Reciprocal referral agreements
	OK, so long as NOT exclusive, NOT interfering w/ professional judgment (NO $$ involved), AND client is informed
	NOT OK

	Qualified lawyer referral service
	OK

	Recorded telephone communication
	NOT subject to general ban on solicitation (NOT “live” or “real-time”)
	Subject to general ban solicitation (“by telephone”)

	Chat room communication
	Subject to general ban (“real-time”)
	NOT subject to general ban (NOT “in person or by telephone”)

	Email communication
	NOT subject to general ban

	Telemarketer communication
	Subject to general ban (even though NOT the actual lawyer)

	Leaflets
	Borderline b/w “in person” and “written communication”
	Subject to general ban (“delivered in person”)
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